JAN 24 2020

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**  
Clerk of the Court  
Deputy Clerk

**In re OSCAR MANUEL VAQUERA,**

*On Habeas Corpus.*

**ORANGE COUNTY DISTRICT  
ATTORNEY,**

**CALIFORNIA ATTORNEY GENERAL,**

**CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF  
CORRECTIONS AND  
REHABILITATION,**

*Real Parties in Interest.*

**No. S258376**

Deputy

**Prior Supreme Ct. No.  
S252593**

**Court of Appeal No. G056786**

**Super. Ct. No. 12NF0653**

**PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

**From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal  
Fourth District, Division Three, Case No. G056786**

**Orange County Superior Court Case No. 12NF0653**

**ORANGE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The issue presented here is whether Respondent Court erred when it refused to grant the Petition for Writ of *Habeas Corpus* below. The constituent issues therein include:

- i. whether the Court of Appeal erred by disagreeing with *People v. Jimenez* (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 373 (*Jimenez*), and endorsed as mandatory the very sentencing practice prohibited in *Jimenez*;
- ii. whether the Court of Appeal erred in its attempt to distinguish this Court's ruling in *People v. Mancebo* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 735 (and several Court of Appeal decisions) on the issue of due process; and
- iii. whether the Court of Appeal erred in its failure to address Petitioner's claims below on the issues of waiver and estoppel.

Respondent Court of Appeal's current opinion denying *habeas corpus* relief in this matter openly disavowed and contradicted the opinion of *People v. Jimenez* (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 373 (*Jimenez*). Moreover, the opinion by the Court of Appeal is incorrect and was based upon immaterial points in an effort to distinguish this High Court's opinion in *People v. Mancebo* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 735 (*Mancebo*), and derivative opinions of various Courts of Appeal including *People v. Sawyers* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 713 and *People v. Wilford* (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 827 (*Wilford*). The Court of Appeal also erred when it failed to address petitioner's claims of waiver and estoppel.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

As the most salient facts of this matter are procedural, Petitioner offers the following combined statement of the case and

facts. For the Court's convenience the more salient facts are fully and fairly noted herein. For a complete rendition of procedural history, this Court is referred to the original Petition for writ of *habeas corpus* and the exhibits thereto.

At all stages of this matter prior to actual imposition of sentence<sup>2</sup>, the same sexual assault prosecutor pursued the same child molestation charges with the same "one strike" alternative sentencing scheme specifically-elected per Penal Code section<sup>3</sup> 667.61, subdivision (b) [15-Life] by way of subdivision (e)(5) or (e)(4) [multiple victims].<sup>4</sup> The Public Defender filed a Defense Sentencing Brief demonstrating defense counsel's agreement with the People that each of Counts 1 and 2 (each including the alternative sentencing scheme allegation per section 667.61 subdivision (b)) carried a mandatory sentence of 15 years to life in prison.

For the first time, *more than three months after verdict and jury discharge*, that same prosecutor changed his mind and filed a second sentencing brief to seek punishment on Count 2 under

---

<sup>2</sup> These stages included the filing of the complaint, the actual preliminary examination hearing, the filing of and arraignment on the information, the jury trial with its resulting conviction and true finding by the jury, and the discharge of the jury. Even in their first sentencing brief well after conviction and jury discharge, the People's counsel continued to acknowledge the People's election of the one strike allegation specified that carried a mandatory 15 years to life prison sentence.

<sup>3</sup> All further section (§) references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

<sup>4</sup> The People actually alleged subdivision (b) by way of subdivision (e)(5) [multiple victims] for Count 1, while alleging subdivision (b) by way of subdivision (e)(4) [multiple victims] for Count 2; this reflected the 2010 amendments to § 667.61, renumbering the circumstances in subdivision (e). That *same amendment* added subdivision (j)(2) as an additional option, a 25-Life alternate sentencing scheme.

section 667.61, subdivision (j)(2) [25-Life]. The People never sought to amend the charging document to reflect this change in charging decision.

The People's position carried the day and Respondent Superior Court sentenced Petitioner to 25 years to life on Count 2, concurrent with 15 years to life on Count 1. In October 2014, Petitioner appealed his conviction, solely raising purported error in failure to suppress statements under *Miranda v. Arizona* (1966) 384 U.S. 436 and *Missouri v. Seibert* (2004) 542 U.S. 600; in October 2016 that judgment was affirmed in an unpublished opinion. (Fourth Appellate Dist., Div. 3, case no. G050801)

In September 2018, Petitioner herein filed a petition for writ of *habeas corpus* in the Court of Appeal below. (Fourth Appellate Dist., Div. 3, case no. G056786.) The Court of Appeal summarily denied Mr. Vaquera's petition for *habeas corpus* in this matter, then on remand from this High Court (case no. S252593) denied the petition by published opinion (*In re Vaquera* (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 233), necessitating this grant of Review.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeal below erred by disagreeing with *People v. Jimenez* (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 373 (*Jimenez*), in that it endorsed as mandatory the very sentencing practice *Jimenez* prohibited, thereby failing to enforce this Court's mandates in *People v. Mancebo* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 735 (*Mancebo*), and by disregarding *People v. Wilford* (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 827 (*Wilford*) on superficial grounds.**

The Court of Appeal below openly acknowledged that "*Jimenez* is directly on point, but ... respectfully disagree[d] with" its analysis and conclusions, and repeatedly declared the disposition prohibited in *Jimenez* (25-years-to-life sentence) was "required"



under the identical circumstances of this case. (*In re Vaquera* (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 233, 242 (*Vaquera*).

In its refutation of *Jimenez* the court below reduced the *Mancebo* opinion to the section 667.61(f) pleading requirement issue, then evaded all applicable portions of the *Mancebo* opinion. While the post-conviction machinations of the trial court and prosecutor in *Mancebo* violated section 667.61(f)'s express pleading requirements, this High Court *also* pointed out the manner in which this violated *Mancebo*'s due process right to fair notice of the actual sentence enhancements sought to be imposed against him and implicated doctrines of waiver and estoppel to bar prosecution under the theories foregone by the People at trial.<sup>5</sup> Here, the *Vaquera* Court reframed the due process question to avoid brushing against *Mancebo*, ignored the *Jimenez* Court's discussion of due process/notice concerns and simply ignored the portions of *Mancebo* most problematic for the result below. The *Vaquera* Court was dismissive of the due process/notice issue, unconvincingly seeking to distinguish the *Wilford* decision on immaterial points, then totally ignored this Court's concerns of waiver and estoppel as raised by Petitioner.

The court below also sought to discredit *Jimenez* for its failure to distinguish itself on superficial grounds from *Mancebo* and *Wilford*. (*Vaquera, supra*, at pp. 243-244.) The court sought to distinguish the binding authority of the *Mancebo* opinion by reference to pleading requirements alone, and completely ignored Petitioner's *sole* reliance upon the notice/due process and waiver

---

<sup>5</sup> The due process issue will be more fully discussed in part II below, and the waiver and estoppel issues will be discussed in part III below.

and estoppel bases of the *Mancebo* opinion. (*Id.*, at pp. 242-243.) The court below further distinguished the *Wilford* opinion from the *Vaquera* case with a conclusory reference that Petitioner should have known he faced “the possibility” of a 25 year to life sentence from the subdivision (b) statutory cross reference.<sup>6</sup> (*Id.*, at p. 243.)

The *Jimenez* opinion, to the contrary, relied upon and followed this Court’s ruling in *Mancebo*<sup>7</sup>, reasonably holding that the People’s specific selection of the sentencing scheme under section 667.61 subdivision (b), and failure to allege subdivision (j)(2)’s alternate sentencing scheme, denied Jimenez his due process right to notice of the sentence he would face under the latter scheme. The *Jimenez* Court abided what the Court of Appeal in the instant case disregarded: that one must “acknowledge at the threshold that, in addition to the statutory requirements that enhancement provisions be pleaded and proven, a defendant has a cognizable due process right to fair notice of the specific sentence enhancement allegations that will be invoked to increase punishment for his crimes.” (*Mancebo, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 747.)

The court below wrongly refuted the opinion of the *Jimenez* Court, undercutting and unreasonably limiting the opinion of the

---

<sup>6</sup> The court below noted that section 667.61, subdivision (b) cross references the alternate sentencing schemes in subdivision (j) [and (a), and (l) and (m)], implying notice to the unalleged scheme in subdivision (j)(2) [and (j)(1)]. “Were it not for the section 667.61 subdivision (j)(2) exception, which is noted in subdivision (b), *Vaquera*’s situation would be more closely aligned with *Wilford*. But in this case *Vaquera* was fairly put on notice[.]” (*Vaquera, supra*, at p. 244.)

<sup>7</sup> This Court indicated that “a defendant has a cognizable due process right to fair notice of the specific sentence enhancement allegations that will be invoked to increase punishment for his crimes.” (*Mancebo, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 747.)

*Wilford* Court on a razor thin distinction, and wholly disregarding this High Court's opinions regarding due process, and the application of waiver and estoppel doctrines from the *Mancebo* opinion.

**II. The Court of Appeal decision below was incorrect under this Court's opinion in *People v. Mancebo* (and several Courts of Appeal decisions) on the issue of due process.**

In Petitioner's case below, the Court of Appeal incorrectly denied relief as mandated in *Mancebo* and its progeny in the Courts of Appeal, applying too lenient a notice requirement to satisfy due process, and failing to address the doctrine of waiver and estoppel at all.

On the issues of *fair* notice and due process, the Court below ruled that the charging document provided more than "no indication whatsoever" of "the possibility" of the ultimate 25-years to life sentence. On this basis, the *Vaquera* Court found *fair* notice, sufficient to provide the Petitioner due process, despite contrary guidance from this High Court in *Mancebo*.

On the limited issue of due process, *Mancebo* made clear that separate and apart from section 667.61(f)'s statutory pleading requirement [to allege any 'circumstance' relied upon under subdivision (e)] "a defendant has a cognizable due process right to *fair notice* of the *specific sentence enhancement allegations that will be invoked* to increase punishment for his crimes." (*Mancebo, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 748 [emphasis added].) Here, the People plainly invoked subdivision (b), not subdivision (j)(2); the charging document made no mention of any alternate sentencing scheme except subdivision (b).

The *Vaquera* Court dramatically diluted this issue, reasoning that the information's actual allegation of the subdivision (b) sentencing scheme implicitly provided some notice of the possible statutory exceptions to that sentencing scheme, even where the charging document itself made no cross reference. Thus, reasoned the *Vaquera* Court, this charging document (combined with the language of the underlying statute) provided more than "*no indication whatsoever* that [the defendant] faced the possibility of a sentence" of 25-years-to-life. (*Vaquera, supra*, at p. 243; quoting *Wilford, supra*, 12 Cal.App.5th at p. 480 [emphasis added by *Vaquera* Court].<sup>8</sup>) Thus "the pleading should have indicated to *Vaquera* that he faced the possibility of a 25-year-to-life sentence." (*Ibid.*)

**A. Good policy does not support this interpretation of *Mancebo*.**

The *Vaquera* Court's endorsement of this tenuous notice sets a dangerous precedent, where allegation of section 667.61(b) puts Mr. *Vaquera* on fair notice that the People sought sentencing under another subdivision having nothing to do with subdivision (b). If Mr. *Vaquera* was on notice that after trial he could face sentencing per subdivision (j)(2), then logically he was on notice he could also face sentencing per subdivision (j)(1), or (a), or (l) or (m), each of which

---

<sup>8</sup> To satisfy the notice requirement, the *Vaquera* Court reasoned that in *Vaquera*'s section 667.61 allegation, the prosecutor had alleged application of the alternate sentencing scheme of subdivision (b), and that the statute defining that sentencing scheme provides for the 15-Life sentence except as provided in four other subdivisions, including (j). Note that the entirety of the information itself (like the complaint before it) failed to cross-reference § 667.61(j)(1) or any alternate sentencing scheme other than § 667.61(b).

appears in the same statutory cross-referencing phrase.<sup>9</sup> Presumably, being on notice of this broad range of sentencing schemes, Petitioner would need to run a motion per section 995 to protect himself from each of these possibilities or face the risk that some unanticipated evidence comes in at trial to prove a scheme he had no *actual* idea was on the table. That said, it is not entirely clear that a section 995 motion is available to strike or foreclose unsupported sentencing alternatives *not actually appearing in the charging document* (except by reference to exceptions listed in the language of statute charged).<sup>10</sup>

No valid purpose would be served by a court endorsing charging decisions and sentencing rulings as occurred here. Petitioner's read of the scheme alleged against him aligned with the understanding of his attorney, and with that of the *sexual assault prosecutor*, the very attorney who conducted the case from filing until well after the verdict. This is egregious because a *clear or direct invocation* of the scheme in section 667.61, subdivision (j)(2) would not mention subdivision (b) at all.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> Taken to an extreme, perhaps Petitioner would be deemed on notice of the *possibility* that he may be punished under some other unspecified section of an unspecified code simply because section 667.61, in subdivision (f), cross references all of California law: "unless another provision of law provides for a greater penalty or the punishment under another provision of law can be imposed in addition to the punishment provided by this section", therein cross referencing subdivisions (a), (b), (j), (l), and (m).

<sup>10</sup> Under some circumstances of failure of proof at preliminary hearing, the People would actually be incentivized to insulate the unproven scheme from section 995 challenge by only indirectly alleging it via subdivision (b).

<sup>11</sup> Were the People to allege every subdivision actually implicated by the sentence actually imposed here, the information would plead "section 667.61, involving a victim under 14 per subdivision (j)(2) [25-Life] by

**B. Cases relied upon, *People v. Tennard* (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 476 (*Tennard*) and *People v. Thomas* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 818 (*Thomas*), do not support the lower court's rationale.**

The lower court's dependence on *Tennard* is puzzling, as Petitioner's case is distinguishable. Mr. Tennard was convicted and sentenced on felony domestic violence charges, and the alternate sentencing scheme of section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(A) that was specifically pled. The issue asserted by Tennard and rejected in the *Tennard* opinion was not the failure to allege the scheme ultimately sentenced upon, but rather the failure to acknowledge a possible exception to that scheme, and to specifically plead the exception to that exception.<sup>12</sup> Unsurprisingly, the *Tennard* court found sufficient notice.

The lower court's depended upon an interpretation of *Thomas*, which was specifically disclaimed in *Mancebo*, is equally unsound. The *Vaquera* opinion relied heavily upon *Thomas* for the broad assertion that pleading the specific statute is not required as long as the facts pled give the defendant notice (*Vaquera, supra*, at pp. 239-241); however, this Court explicitly rejected the People's claim in *Mancebo*, announcing "this was not our holding in

---

reference to subdivisions (c)(8) [listed crime: § 288(a)] and (e)(4) [listed circumstance: multiple victims]." In context, reference to subdivision (b) would be entirely misleading.

<sup>12</sup> Subdivision (e)(2)(A) provides for sentencing per the greatest of certain options [third strike sentencing], *except as provided in subdivision (e)(2)(C)* [which provides for 1-strike-type double-base-term sentencing].

*Subdivision (e)(2)(C)* then contains an *exclusion* [i.e., back to third strike sentencing] for certain defendants, including those with defined prior convictions for "sexually violent offenses" like Mr. Tennard's forcible rape conviction that was specifically pled and proved *as a forcible rape* prior. (See § 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(iv)(I), Welf. & Inst. Code § 6600, subd. (b).)

*Thomas*.” (*Mancebo, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 747.) As explained in *Mancebo, Thomas* involved a very different issue: whether a general manslaughter allegation using the word “willfully” permitted jury consideration of a voluntary manslaughter charge only, or also permitted consideration of a lesser included or related *involuntary* manslaughter charge supported by the facts at preliminary hearing and at trial and assented to by the defense. *Thomas* (unlike in *Mancebo, Jimenez, Wilford* and here) did not involve a trial where the People sought imposition of a harsher sentence after verdict than had been alleged through the trial.

The *Vaquera* opinion did however follow *Tennard* and *Thomas* in their failure to address or consider the People’s “discretionary charging decision” and resulting issues of waiver and estoppel, as discussed by this Court’s opinion in *Mancebo*. (See Section III, *infra*.)

**C. *People v. Jimenez, People v. Wilford, People v. Sawyers, People v. Nguyen* and *People v. Perez*, with support from *People v. Mancebo*, make clear that sentencing on an alternative scheme not actually alleged violates notice rights and constitutional Due Process.**

In this case, the People alleged the alternate sentencing scheme pursuant to section 667.61(b), by reference to subdivision (e)(4), a complete allegation seeking 15 years to life. No other scheme appeared.

In *People v. Wilford* (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 827 (*Wilford*), the court concluded that sentencing under a specific sentencing scheme subdivision not previously alleged in the Information – even with the facts supporting that scheme pled and proven in support of a different alternate sentencing scheme – violated the defendant’s due

process rights. (*Id.* at p. 840.) Simply said, that a “defendant has a constitutional due process right to be advised of the charges against him” and “to fair notice of the specific sentence enhancement allegations that will be relied upon to increase punishment for his crimes.” (*Id.* at p. 837.) They were right.

In *People v. Sawyers* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 713, reliant upon both *Mancebo* and *Wilford*, the court found that “sentencing under the Three Strikes Law was unauthorized because the information failed to allege his [section 667.5, subdivision (b)] prior offense was a strike.” (*Sawyers, supra*, at p. 715.) This situation failed to satisfy requirements for due process notice *and* statutory pleading and proof.

In *People v. Nguyen* (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 260, the court barred sentencing on a prior serious felony enhancement (Pen. Code § 667, subd. (a)) where the People pled the fact only as a prison prior and strike prior (Pen. Code §§ 667.5, subd. (b) and 667 subd. (d)/(e)).

In *People v. Perez* (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 598, the People failed to allege premeditation and deliberation in four attempted murder charges. The Court held “the sentence was unauthorized in light of the prosecution’s failure to satisfy the express statutory requirement coupled with the failure to advise defendant of the *potential enhanced penalty*.” (*Id.* at p. 614, emphasis added.)

While various alternate sentencing schemes may exist and may be applicable to the circumstances of a crime or a defendant, “[p]rosecutors have broad discretion to decide whom to charge, and for what crime.” (*People v. Lucas* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 415, 477.) The People are not required to invoke all, the most impactful, or *any* specific allegation to increase a sentence. Clearly, the prosecutor here was entitled to file only the base charges with no alternate

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