In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

OSCAR MANUEL VAQUERA,

Case No. S258376

On Habeas Corpus.

Fourth Appellate District Division Three, Case No. G056786 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 12NF0653 The Honorable David A. Hoffer, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA Attorney General of California LANCE E. WINTERS Chief Assistant Attorney General JULIE L. GARLAND Senior Assistant Attorney General STEVE OETTING Supervising Deputy Attorney General *PAIGE B. HAZARD Deputy Attorney General State Bar No. 234939 600 West Broadway, Suite 1800 San Diego, CA 92101 P.O. Box 85266 San Diego, CA 92186-5266 Telephone: (619) 738-9053

Fax: (619) 645-2044

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

4. The Court of Appeal properly rejected the unsound reasoning in *Jimenez*

The Court of Appeal rightly rejected the holding of *Jimenez*, *supra*, 35 Cal.App.5th 373, because, contrary to Vaquera's assertions (OBM 8–10), that decision failed to adhere to principles of statutory construction or note distinctions between the facts of that case and *Mancebo*. The facts of *Jimenez* are similar to this case. The defendant was convicted of 15 counts related to sexual offenses committed against three minor victims. (*Jimenez*, at p. 377–378.) The jury found true One Strike multiple-victim

enhancement allegations (i.e., § 667.61, subds. (b), (e)), which were specifically pled in the information. (*Jimenez*, at pp. 378, 393.) The information did not reference section 667.61, subdivision (j). The court sentenced Jimenez to an aggregate term of 175 years to life in prison, which included 25-year-to-life terms for each of the One Strike enhancements. (*Jimenez*, at pp. 378, 393.)

On appeal, Jimenez argued that the trial court erred by sentencing him under subdivision (j)(2) because the information's reference to subdivisions (b) and (e) reflected a decision by the prosecutor to pursue a 15-year-to-life sentence for each enhancement allegation. (*Jimenez*, *supra*, 35 Cal.App.5th at pp. 393, 395.) Without mention of the opening clause in subdivision (b), the Court of Appeal concluded that the "failure to plead the enhancement under section 667.61(j)(2) precluded sentencing based on that provision." (*Jimenez*, at p. 394, 397.) The court recognized that the information met the pleading requirements outlined in subdivision (*o*) but, nonetheless, concluded that those requirements were insufficient to meet the defendant's due process right to notice. (*Jimenez*, at p. 397.)

The Court of Appeal here appropriately disagreed with *Jimenez*. (*In re Vaquera*, *supra*, 39 Cal.App.5th at p. 244.) First, "*Jimenez* overlooked a critical fact," outlined above, that section 667.61, "subdivision (b) itself refers to subdivision (j), identifying it as an *exception* to the shorter 15-year-to-life term." (*People v. Zaldana* (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 527, 535 [agreeing with *Vaquera* and rejecting the reasoning of *Jimenez*], emphasis added.) The *Jimenez* court's failure to give meaning to every word in that subdivision, essentially eviscerating the opening clause of subdivision (b), violated basic principles of statutory construction. (*Hammer*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at pp. 762–763 [to understand a statute, courts must give meaning to each word and harmonize various parts by """considering the particular

clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole,""" quoting *People v. Acosta* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 105, 112].)

Second, *Jimenez* failed to address the fact that because the information pled section 667.61, subdivision (e), and described the multiple-victim circumstance, its facts differed crucially from those of *Mancebo*, where the information did not reference the One Strike law in connection with a multiple-victim circumstance. (*In re Vaquera*, *supra*, 39 Cal.App.5th at p. 244.)

Third, the holding in *Jimenez* resulted in an unauthorized sentence. As noted by the Court of Appeal in this case, when the defendant is convicted of offenses outlined in subdivision (c), and the facts and circumstances specified in subdivisions (d) and (e) are alleged and found true, the One Strike law mandates specific penalties (§ 667.61, subd. (o)). (*In re Vaquera*, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th at pp. 244–245; see *People v. Jones* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 98, 103 ["section 667.61 mandates an indeterminate sentence of either 25 years (id., subd. (a)) or 15 years to life (id., subd. (b)) when a defendant is convicted of certain forcible sex offenses committed under specific aggravating circumstances"].) Because the facts and circumstances were appropriately pled and proven as required in subdivision (o), the trial court was required to impose 25 years to life for the enhancements. The reviewing court in *Jimenez* erred in reducing it. (*In re Vaquera*, at pp. 244–245.)

Finally, *Jimenez* erred because it assumed—without reference to any supporting evidence from the record—that the prosecution elected to plead the enhancements under subdivision (b), rather that subdivision (j). (*Jimenez*, *supra*, 35 Cal.App.5th at p. 395.) That argument is "fundamentally mistaken. Section 667.61, subdivision (b), *requires* a sentence of 15 years to life '*[e]xcept as provided* in subdivision . . . (j) '(Italics added.) And section 667.61, subdivision (j)(2), *requires* that

any person coming under its provisions 'shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for 25 years to life.' (Italics added.) Because the Legislature used the word 'shall,' and because the prosecution properly pleaded and proved multiple victim allegations for qualifying sex offenses in which the victims were under 14 years of age, the trial court was required to impose a 25-year-to-life sentence under section 667.61, the One Strike law." (In re Vaquera, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th at p. 245; accord Zaldana, supra, 43 Cal.App.5th at p. 536.) The prosecution exercises discretion in choosing which circumstances to allege to invoke One Strike sentencing. Once the circumstances are pled and proven, however, there is no discretion as to penalty.

II. ANY POSSIBLE ERROR WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE VAQUERA WAS NOT MISLED TO HIS PREJUDICE

To avoid a harmless error analysis, Vaquera argues that the doctrines of waiver and estoppel apply. Relying on *Mancebo*, he asserts that the prosecutor exercised discretion to pursue a 15-year-to-life penalty on count 2 and, thus, waived any chance to later argue for the 25-year-to-life sentence. But there is no evidence the prosecutor sought to pursue anything but the maximum sentence in this case. To the extent that the information's reference to subdivision (b) constituted error, it resulted from a clerical mistake and was harmless. Vaquera was not misled to his prejudice because the 25-year-to-life term imposed on count 2 was mandatory and any other sentence would have been unauthorized. In addition, the aggregate 25-year-to-life term imposed by the court was less than that sought by the prosecutor even before discovering the error in his original sentencing brief. Most importantly, the record reveals that Vaquera knew he faced a sentence of 25 years to life.

A. The Doctrines of Waiver and Estoppel Do Not Apply Because the People Complied with Pleading and Proof Requirements

Vaquera argues that under *Mancebo* this Court is precluded from examining whether any error prejudiced his case. Again, *Mancebo* is distinguishable. The *Mancebo* Court held that where a prosecutor exercises charging discretion and fails to expressly allege a specific One Strike circumstance in the charging document, the People are estopped from claiming error did not affect the outcome of the case. (Mancebo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 749.) Due to the resulting "complete lack of notice," the doctrines of waiver and estoppel apply. (Id. at p. 748, quoting People v. Garcia (1998) 63 Cal. App. 4th 820, 833.) For example, in *People v*. Hernandez (1988) 46 Cal.3d 194, 208–209, this Court held that automatic reversal was required for pleading error because "no notice whatsoever, not just of the code section but of the mens rea required by section 667.8, was given either in the information, arguments of counsel, or evidence produced at trial." (Mancebo, at pp. 747, 749, citing Hernandez, at pp. 208–209.) Similarly in *People v. Najera* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 504, this Court did not conduct a harmless error analysis, concluding that the People "waived" application of a section 12022.5 enhancement allegation, because it was neither alleged in a pleading nor found true by the jury. (Mancebo, at p. 746, citing *Najera*, at p. 512.) Where notice is provided, however, courts appropriately engage in a harmless error analysis for cases involving pleading and proof errors. (*Mancebo*, at pp. 748–749.)

With those principles in mind and looking to the circumstances of the case before it, this Court reversed the sentence in *Mancebo* without engaging in a harmless error analysis. (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 749.) This Court concluded that, like *Najera*, the prosecution deliberately chose not to allege the multiple-victim circumstance under the

One Strike law. (*Ibid.*) It was because of this "discretionary charging decision" by the prosecution in *Mancebo* and the complete lack of notice afforded to the defendant that the multiple-victim circumstance would be used to invoke One Strike sentencing that *Mancebo* held conventional harmless-error analysis inapplicable. (*Ibid.*) "Under these circumstances, the doctrines of waiver and estoppel, rather than harmless error, apply." (*Ibid.*)

A harmless error analysis is appropriate in this case because the information specifically pled the One Strike enhancement allegation. (See *Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 748–749; *People v. Marshall* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 799, 850.) Unlike in *Mancebo*, the prosecutor expressly alleged the applicable multiple-victim circumstance in the information and referenced section 667.61. Once the People elected to pursue a One Strike sentence and alleged the relevant circumstances, they were without discretion to request a sentence other than that prescribed by section 667.61.

There is simply no evidence that the People made a discretionary charging decision to seek a 15-year-to-life sentence on count 2 as Vaquera contends. (OBM at 10, 18–19.) The record supports the opposite finding. The prosecutor's initial sentencing brief asking for a 15-year-to-life sentence on count 2 appears to have resulted from an inadvertent failure to consider the 2010 amendment and not a discretionary choice. Upon realizing the error, the prosecutor informed the court. (CoA Petn., Exh. 6 at p. 72.) The fact that the prosecutor consistently sought the maximum sentence (i.e., consecutive sentences on both counts 1 and 2) supports a finding that asking for a 15-year-to-life sentence in the first sentencing brief was an error. Plus, during the hearing to address the CDCR's letter, the prosecutor accurately framed the sentencing as mandatory and never suggested the People elected a lesser sentence before trial. (Cf. *Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 749 [pleading deficiency deemed a discretionary

charging decision because no evidence suggested it was based on a mistake or other excusable neglect].) The People did not exercise charging discretion and then substitute one circumstance for an unpled circumstance like in *Mancebo*. Thus waiver and estoppel do not apply.

B. Vaquera Was Not Misled to His Prejudice

Even assuming error, it was harmless. When the information gives notice of the sentence enhancement and the facts supporting it but also "included some extraneous and possibly misleading information," the question is whether the defendant has been "misled to his prejudice." (*Thomas, supra*, 43 Cal.3d at pp. 830–831; see also § 960 ["No accusatory pleading is insufficient, nor can the trial, judgment, or other proceeding thereon be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matter of form which does not prejudice a substantial right of the defendant upon the merits"]; Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13 ["No judgment shall be set aside, . . . for any error as to any matter of pleading, or for any error as to any matter of procedure, unless, after an examination of the entire cause, including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice"].)

Vaquera speculates that he was prejudiced because, had the information cited to subdivision (j)(2), he would have made different unspecified discovery requests, strategic decisions, or plea negotiations. (OBM at 17–18.) But Vaquera's assertions alone do not establish prejudice. (Cf., *In re Alvernaz* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 924, 938 ["a defendant's self-serving statement—after trial, conviction, and sentence—that with competent advice he or she *would* [or would not] have accepted a proffered plea bargain, is insufficient in and of itself to sustain the defendant's burden of proof as to prejudice, and must be corroborated independently by objective evidence"].)

Even if the information was mistaken in referencing subdivision (b), Vaguera was motivated to defend against the possibility of two consecutive One Strike sentences. There is no evidence that his defense would have changed knowing he faced a 25-year-to-life parole eligibility date on count 2, as opposed to a 15-year-to-life parole eligibility date. The charges and aggravating circumstances never changed. Since the initial filing of the complaint, Vaquera had ample reason and opportunity to defend against charges that he committed lewd acts against two young boys. There is also no evidence that Vaquera was offered and rejected any plea bargains leading up to trial. (Cf. Wilford, supra, 12 Cal.App.5th at p. 840 [the failure of the information to indicate a possibility of the increased punishment was a "critical shortcoming" because the defendant was offered and rejected a plea bargain]; In re Alvernaz, supra, 2 Cal.4th at pp. 928, 933–936 [a defendant could show prejudice due to ineffective assistance of counsel if he was not told accurately before trial about a plea offer that he would have accepted and ultimately received a less favorable sentence].)

The record shows only that *after* trial, the prosecution inadvertently asked for imposition of a 15-year-to-life term on count 2, but there is no evidence of resulting prejudice. The prosecutor's error in initially seeking a lesser sentence on count 2, made after trial and before the initial sentencing hearing, had no effect on Vaquera's right to notice. Upon realizing the error, the prosecutor filed a new sentencing brief in anticipation of the continued sentencing hearing, thus, giving Vaquera time to respond. That Vaquera did not request a continuance after the prosecutor asked for the 25-year-to-life term on count 2 further supports a finding of no prejudice. (See *Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1227 [if the defendant believed he had lack of notice of possible life sentence, he could have sought a continuance to prepare a defense].)

In fact, Vaquera's statement to the probation officer months before sentencing indicates he had actual notice of the possibility of a 25-year-tolife sentence. (2CT 386 [probation officer recounted that Vaquera "understood he was looking at a very long sentence, and his attorney said he could serve 25 years to life"].) Thus, not only is the 25-year-to-life sentence the court ultimately imposed less than the punishment recommended by the People, it was exactly the sentence that Vaquera expected. His sentence is less than the 30-year-to-life term sought by the prosecutor at the initial sentencing hearing (before realizing that subdivision (i), mandated a longer sentence on count 2), and much less than the 40-year-to-life term the prosecutor sought at the second sentencing hearing. The trial court's statements at sentencing further reflect that Vaquera was not prejudiced. The trial court commented that if the sentence on count 2 were still 15 years to life, the "court might well be adding consecutive time . . . for the other counts for which Mr. Vaquera faced a determinate sentence." (2RT 463–464.)

Finally, overwhelming evidence, including videos, testimony by the victims and Vaquera's own admissions, supported the convictions and established the circumstances supporting enhancement: namely, that he committed lewd and lascivious acts against two children under the age of 14 as described in section 667.61, subdivisions (c) and (e)(4). Any pleading error, if it occurred, was harmless because the facts showed that he was ineligible for the 15-year-to-life term outlined in section 667.61, subdivision (b).

Vaquera does not contest that he was on notice of the facts and circumstances triggering application of the One Strike law. He, therefore, could not have been surprised by proof of such circumstances. Although it may have been more clear to initially specify Vaquera was facing a 25-

year-to-life sentence on count 2 under subdivision (j)(2), any error did not result in prejudice.

CONCLUSION

The circumstances here do not rise to the level of a due process violation because Vaquera and his counsel were aware during both trial and sentencing proceedings that the One Strike allegation applied, and thus there was no surprise, inability to prepare a defense, or evidence that Vaquera or his counsel were misled. The judgment should be affirmed.